# **Draft Lease**

# For

# **Numurkah Caravan Park**

The Landlord as named in Item 1 of Schedule 1 and

The Tenant as named in Item 2 of Schedule 1

#### between

the Landlord named in Item 1

and

the Tenant named in Item 2

### **Recitals**

A. The Land is as described in Item 4.

The Landlord has been appointed by the Minister as the Committee of Management of the Land under s 14 of the Act and has power to enter into this Lease under the Applicable Leasing Power.

### **Table of Contents**

1.	Def	finitions and Interpretation	7
1.	1.	Definitions	7
1.3	2.	Interpretation	11
2.	Lea	ase of premises and reservations	13
2.	1.	Grant of Lease	13
2.2	2.	Reservations	13
3.	Rer	nt	13
4.	Out	tgoings	14
4.	1.	Tenant to pay Outgoings	14
4.2	2.	Tenant to produce receipts	14
4.3	3.	Apportionment	14
5.	Cos	sts	14
6.	Inte	erest	14
7.	Use	e of Premises	15
7.	1.	Tenant's obligations	15
7.5	2.	No warranty as to use	16
8.	Wo	orks	16
8.	1.	Major Works	16
8.2	2.	Minor Works	17
9.	Ow	nership of Improvements	17
9.	1.	During the Term	
9.2	2.	End of Lease	18
10.	C	Construction works	18
11.	C	Compliance with Laws and Requirements	19
11	.1.	Compliance with Laws and Requirements	19
11	.2.	Landlord may comply if Tenant defaults	20
11	.3.	Landlord's compliance Costs	20
12.	Ν	Maintenance and repair	20
12	2.1.	General repairing obligation	20
12	2.2.	Landlord's right of inspection	20
12	2.3.	Enforcement of repairing obligations	21
12	2.4.	Landlord may enter to repair	21
13.	F	Fire protection works	22
14.	٧	/egetation	22
15.	R	Reporting	22
16.	Α	Assignment and subletting	22

No assignment of Tenant's interest	22
Deemed assignment on change of shareholding	23
Conditions of assignment - general	23
Conditions of assignment - Retail Act	24
No sub-letting	25
Mortgage or charge	25
Acceptance of rent by Landlord	25
Section 144 excluded	25
nsurance	25
Insurances to be taken out by Tenant	25
Tenant's insurance obligations	26
Effect on Landlord's insurances	26
Extra Costs of insurance	27
Release and indemnities	27
andlord's covenant, decisions and actions	28
Landlord covenant	28
Climate Change	28
Damage and destruction	28
ermination and default	29
Events of default	30
Forfeiture of Lease	30
Re-entry	30
Landlord may rectify	30
Waiver	30
Tender after determination	.31
Essential Terms	.31
Damages for breach	.31
Repudiation by Tenant	.31
. Acceptance of Rent	32
. Acts by the Landlord not to constitute forfeiture	32
. Landlord may institute proceedings at any time	32
. Mitigation	.32
Petermination of Term	32
Tenant to yield up	32
Tenant's Improvements	32
Tenant not to cause damage	33
Failure by Tenant to remove Tenant's Improvements	22
	Damages for breach Repudiation by Tenant.  Acceptance of Rent.  Acts by the Landlord not to constitute forfeiture  Landlord may institute proceedings at any time  Mitigation  Determination of Term  Tenant to yield up  Tenant's Improvements  Tenant not to cause damage

22.5	5. Tenant to indemnify and pay Landlord's Costs	34
22.6	6. Earlier breaches	34
23.	Further Term	34
24.	Overholding	34
25.	GST	34
26.	Personal Properties Security Act	35
27.	Security	36
28.	Contamination and Environment	37
28.1	1. Contamination	37
	2. Contamination Release and Indemnity	
28.3	3. Environmental management	38
29.	Retail Act	
	1. Application	
29.2	2. Acknowledgements	38
30.	Landlord's delegation	
31.	Disclosure	38
	1. General disclosure	
31.2	2. Minister's disclosure	
32.	Miscellaneous	39
	1. Landlord's consent	
	2. Severability	
	3. Entire agreement	
32.4	4. Negation of warranties	40
32.5	5. Governing law	40
32.6	S. Moratorium	40
32.7	7. Exclusion of statutory provisions	40
32.8	3. Notices	40
32.9	9. Guarantee and indemnity	41
32.1	10. Set-Off	41
32.1	11. Counterparts	41
32.1	12. Further assurance	41
32 4	13 Special Conditions	12

# **Further Table of Contents**

Signing Page

Schedule 1 Lease particulars (Items)

Schedule 2 Special Conditions

Attachment 1 – Plan of Premises



### 1. Definitions and Interpretation

#### 1.1. Definitions

In this Lease unless otherwise indicated by the context or subject matter:

Act means the Act specified in Item 3.

**Applicable Leasing Power** means the leasing power at Item 3.

#### **Associate(s)** means:

- (a) any officer, employee, agent, contractor, subcontractor, consultant, adviser, invitee, licensee or servant of a party to this Lease, to the extent that such person or entity is performing an act or a function directly related to the Lease; and
- (b) only where the Landlord is the Minister, includes the Crown in right of the State of Victoria and any other person, committee or delegate (including any Government Agency or statutory body corporate or committee for the time being responsible for the administration, care and management of the Land) from time to time responsible for carrying out functions under the Act, the functions of the Landlord under this Lease or emergency management functions.

### Authorised Representative means in respect of:

- (a) the Landlord, the person whose details are set out at Item 1; and
- (b) the Tenant, the person whose details are set out at Item 2;

authorised by the relevant party to give and receive Notices on its behalf.

**Bank Guarantee** means the bank guarantee, if any, specified in Item 14 and as a Special Condition.

**Business Day** means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday in Melbourne, Victoria specified under the *Public Holiday Act 1993 (Vic)*.

**Claim** includes any claim, demand whether made by the Landlord or the Landlord's Associates, remedy, suit, injury, damage, loss, Cost, liability, action, proceeding and right of action.

**Code of Practice** means any code of practice prepared by a Government Agency or any relevant industry body expressly relating to the care, maintenance and use of the Premises or the carrying out of the Permitted Use on the Premises.

**Commencement Date** means the date on which this Lease commences set out in Item 7.

**Contaminant or Contamination** means anything (including without limitation a solid, a liquid, a gas, an odour, temperature, sound, vibration or radiation) which makes or may make the Premises, the Land or the Environment:

(a) unsafe or unfit for humans or animals;

- (b) degraded in any way, including in its capacity to support plant life;
- (c) materially diminished in value; or
- (d) assessable as being in a condition that contravenes the *Environment Protection Act 1970* or successor Acts of Parliament.

**Cost** includes any cost, charge, expense, outgoing, payment or other expenditure of any nature whatever including where appropriate and without limitation, all legal fees.

Crown means the Crown in right of the State of Victoria.

**Environment** means all components of the earth, including without limitation the land, air, soil, any living organism, habitat, surface waters, groundwaters, any layer of the atmosphere, climate, sounds, odours, tastes, biodiversity and the social and aesthetic values of landscapes. In this Lease the Environment includes without limitation the Environment around the Land.

**Environmental Management** means the environmental management referred to in Clause 28 and Special Condition 6.

**Environmental Management Plan** means the environmental management plan referred to in Special Condition 6.3.

**Environmental Protection Legislation** means any statute, regulation, code, proclamation, ministerial directive, ordinance, by law, planning policy or subordinate legislation, past, present or future, relating to pollutants and contaminants, use of land, human health and safety or protection of the Environment.

**Environmental Report** means the environmental report referred to in Special Condition 6.2 describing the condition of the Premises as at the Commencement Date.

Essential Term means an essential term of this Lease as set out in Clause 21.7.

**Further Term** means the further term or terms, if any, set out in Item 13.

**Government Agency** means any government or any public, statutory, governmental, semi-governmental, local governmental or judicial body, entity, department or authority and includes a Minister of the Crown or the Commonwealth of Australia and any person, body, entity or authority exercising a power under an Act of Parliament.

Governor in Council means the Governor in Council of the Crown.

**GST** means the Goods and Services Tax as defined in the GST Act.

**GST Act** means *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth) (as amended).

**Guarantor** means each Guarantor (if any) who guarantees the performance by the Tenant of its obligations under this Lease.

**Insolvency Event** means the happening of any of these events or anything similar to any of these events:

- (a) an order is made that a body corporate be wound up or an order appointing a liquidator or provisional liquidator in respect of the body corporate is made, or a liquidator or provisional liquidator is appointed whether or not under an order;
- (b) except to reconstruct or amalgamate while solvent on terms approved by the other party, a body corporate enters into or resolves to enter into a scheme of arrangement or composition with or assignment for the benefit of all or any class of its creditors or it proposes a re-organisation, moratorium or other administration involving any event;
- (c) a body corporate resolves to wind itself up or otherwise to dissolve itself, or gives notice of intention to do so, except to reconstruct or amalgamate while solvent on terms approved by the other party or is otherwise wound up or dissolved;
- (d) a body corporate is or states that it is insolvent;
- (e) as a result of the operation of s 459F(1) of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth), a body corporate is taken to have failed to comply with a statutory demand:
- (f) a body corporate is or makes a statement from which it may be reasonably deduced by the other party that the body corporate is the subject of an event described in s 459(C)(2)(b) or s 585 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth);
- (g) a body corporate takes any step to obtain protection or is granted protection from its creditors under any applicable legislation, or an administrator is appointed to a body corporate;
- (h) a receiver or a receiver and manager is appointed to a body corporate;
- (i) a person becomes insolvent under administration as defined in s 9 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) or action is taken that would result in that event; and/or
- (j) a person becomes bankrupt.

Item means an item of Schedule 1.

Land means the land described at Item 4 and includes a Stratum of Land.

**Landlord** means the Landlord named in Item 1 and, where appropriate, the authorised delegate of the Landlord and the person for the time being entitled to the reversion immediately expectant upon the determination of the Term.

**Law** includes any requirement of any statute, rule, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or local law, present or future, and whether State, Federal or otherwise.

**Lease** means this lease and includes all schedules, appendices, annexures and exhibits to it.

**Major Works** means all works to the Premises that are not Minor Works.

**Minister** means the Minister of the Crown for the time being responsible for the Act and includes the Minister's successor in law or such other Minister of the Crown or Government Agency to whom responsibility for this Lease may at any time be given and, where appropriate, the authorised delegate of the Minister and the person for the time being entitled to the reversion immediately expectant upon the determination of the Term.

#### Minor Works means:

- (a) any non-structural works to the Premises; and
- (b) structural works to the interior of the Premises.

Notice means any notice or other communication in writing.

**Outgoings** means all existing and future rates and taxes, duties, charges, assessments, levies, impositions and outgoings now or at any time imposed, charged or assessed on or against the Premises or the Landlord or the Tenant or payable by the owner or occupier of the Premises and any charges payable under the Act or any other Act (Commonwealth or State) or any regulations under any Act.

Permitted Use means the use of the Premises set out in Item 10.

**Plan of Premises** means the plan of the Premises at Attachment 1.

Plan of Stratum means the plan of the stratum of Land at Attachment 1b, if any.

**Premises** means the premises as shown on the Plan of Premises and described in Item 5, and includes without limitation any services at the Premises pertaining to the utilities.

Rent means the Rent set out in Item 8.

**Requirement** includes any requirement, Notice, order, permit, licence, approval, authority, direction, recommendation or similar notification given by any Government Agency or issued under any Law, whether in writing or otherwise, directed to a party under this Lease or a Landlord's Associate, the Minister or the Crown, irrespective of to whom the Requirement is addressed or directed.

Retail Act means the Retail Leases Act 2003.

**Review Date** means the review date(s), if any, specified in Item 9.

**Security** means the security referred to in Clause 27, being of the type and for the amount specified in Item 14, if any.

Security Deposit means the security deposit, if any, specified in Item 14.

Special Conditions means any obligations set out in Schedule 2.

State means the State of Victoria.

**Stratum of Land** means a part of land consisting of a space of any shape, below on or above the surface of the land, or partly below and partly above the surface of the land, all the dimensions of which are limited.

**Supplier** means the party who gives a *taxable supply* under this Lease (where the expression in italics has the meaning given in the GST Act).

**Tenant** means the Tenant named in Item 2, and includes, where appropriate, its employees, agents, contractors or other authorised persons and in the case of a:

- (a) corporation, includes the Tenant, its successors and permitted assigns;
   and
- (b) natural Person, includes the Tenant, the Tenant's executors, administrators, permitted assigns and invitees.

**Tenant's Improvements** means all buildings, structures, fixtures, fittings, plant, equipment, partitions, signs or other material or articles and chattels of all kinds which are at any time erected or installed by the Tenant in or on the Land, including without limitation:

- (a) all Major Works and Minor Works constructed by the Tenant on the Premises; and
- (b) any items set out in Item 18, Item 19 and Item 20.

**Term** means the term of this Lease set out in Item 6 commencing on and from the Commencement Date.

**Workplace** has the meaning given to that term by s 8 of the *Work Health and Safety Act 2011* (Cth).

# 1.2. Interpretation

In this Lease, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) a reference to this Lease or any other document referred to in this Lease includes any variation or replacement of any of them;
- (b) a reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other Law includes regulations and other instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, reenactments or replacements of any of them;
- (c) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (d) headings and the table of contents to this Lease are for guidance only and do not affect the interpretation of this Lease;
- (e) a reference to a person includes a firm, a body corporate, an unincorporated association or a responsible authority, as constituted from time to time;
- (f) a reference to a person includes a reference to the person's executors, administrators, successors, substitutes, assigns, employees, servants, agents, consultants, contractors, advisers, financiers, subcontractors, licensees and invitees;
- (g) a reference to any professional body, association or institute includes any succeeding body, association or institute with similar objects;

- (h) if reference is made to any person, division, body or Government Agency and that person, division, body or Government Agency has ceased to exist, then the reference is to be deemed a reference to the person, division, body or Government Agency that then serves substantially the same objects as the person, division, body or Government Agency that has ceased to exist;
- (i) a reference to an agent of the Landlord in this Lease includes a public authority acting for the Landlord that is created by Law or any agent appointed by the Landlord whether expressly named or not in this Lease;
- (j) an agreement, representation or warranty on the part of or in favour of two or more persons binds or is for the benefit of them jointly and severally;
- (k) a reference to any thing (including, without limitation, any amount) is a reference to the whole or any part of it, and a reference to a group of persons is a reference to any one or more of them;
- (I) a covenant, promise, undertaking or agreement by the Tenant to perform or refrain from performing some act or thing, includes a covenant by the Tenant to procure that the Tenant's Associates also perform or refrain from performing such act or thing;
- (m) a reference to a recital, clause, item, schedule or attachment is to a recital, clause, item, schedule or attachment in or to this Lease, unless a contrary intention is expressed;
- (n) day means the period of time commencing at midnight and ending 24 hours later;
- (o) the payment of money within a specified time is a reference to the full clearance of any personal cheque into the account of the payee within that time;
- (p) where a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have corresponding meanings;
- (q) 'dollars' or '\$' refers to Australian currency;
- (r) a reference to any professional body, association or institute includes any succeeding body, association or institute with similar objects;
- (s) no rule of construction will apply to disadvantage a party because that party proposed a provision of this Lease or the Lease itself;
- (t) if anything to be done under this Lease falls on a day which is not a Business Day, it must be done on the next Business Day;
- in respect of any warranty given by the Tenant under this Lease, the Tenant indemnifies the Landlord and the Landlord's Associates for any reasonably foreseeable loss, damage or expense arising out of or associated with a breach of that warranty;

- (v) unless other otherwise stated, no word or provision of this Lease limits the effect of any other word or provision of this Lease. "Including" and similar expressions are not and must not be treated as words of limitation;
- (w) each provision of this Lease continues to have full force and effect until it is satisfied or completed and all clauses intended to survive the expiry or termination of this Lease shall survive the expiry or termination including without limitation Clauses 18, 22.5, 22.6, and 28; and
- (x) responsibility and risk allocations for Contamination, the Environment and/or Environmental Management are effective to the extent that the Law permits.

# 2. Lease of premises and reservations

#### 2.1. Grant of Lease

Under the Applicable Leasing Power, the Landlord grants to the Tenant a lease to occupy the Premises for the Term beginning on the Commencement Date, subject to:

- (a) the terms and conditions of this Lease;
- (b) the encumbrances affecting the Land; and
- (c) any reservations set out in this Lease.

### 2.2. Reservations

This Lease is granted subject to:

- (a) the reservation to the Crown of:
  - (i) all gold and minerals as defined in the *Mineral Resources* (Sustainable Development) Act 1990 and Petroleum within the meaning of the Petroleum Act 1998 (the Reserved Minerals) in on or under the Premises:
  - (ii) the rights of access for the purpose of searching for and obtaining Reserved Minerals; and
  - (iii) the rights of access for pipeline works and any other purposes necessary to obtain and convey on and from the Premises any Reserved Minerals:
- (b) the right of any person authorised under the *Mineral Resources* (Sustainable Development) Act 1990 to enter on the Premises and to search and mine for gold or minerals within the meaning of that Act and to extract and remove them from the Premises by carrying out any work necessary to do so; and
- (c) the right of the Governor in Council to resume the Premises for mining purposes under s 205 of the *Land Act 1958*.

#### 3. Rent

The Tenant must pay the Rent at the times and in the manner set out in Item 8 without demand, abatement, deduction or right of set-off.

### 4. Outgoings

# 4.1. Tenant to pay Outgoings

- (a) Unless otherwise agreed the Tenant must pay on time the Outgoings to the:
  - (i) assessing authority if assessed directly against the Tenant or the Premises; but otherwise
  - (ii) to the Landlord within 30 days of demand for reimbursement.
- (b) If the Retail Act applies to this Lease, the Tenant will not be required to reimburse the Landlord for any land tax payable in respect of the Premises or the Land.

# 4.2. Tenant to produce receipts

Upon the Landlord's request, the Tenant must promptly produce receipts to the Landlord evidencing payment of the Outgoings by the due date for payment if the Tenant is required to pay them to the assessing authority.

### 4.3. Apportionment

If necessary, the Outgoings will be apportioned on a pro-rata daily basis at the beginning and at the end of the Term.

#### 5. Costs

The Tenant must pay to the Landlord all the Landlord's and Minister's Costs, including without limitation Costs of surveyors and other consultants engaged by the Landlord, of and incidental to:

- (a) the preparation, negotiation and execution of this Lease;
- (b) any proposed assignment, subletting or other dealing with the Tenant's leasehold estate, whether or not consent is granted;
- (c) any variation, extension, renewal, surrender or termination (otherwise than by effluxion of time) of this Lease;
- (d) any default by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates in observing or performing any covenants contained or implied in this Lease, including without limitation any enforcement action taken by the Landlord; and
- (e) any request for consent or approval under this Lease, whether or not consent or approval is granted.

#### 6. Interest

(a) The Tenant must pay on demand interest on any Rent or other money which the Tenant has not paid on the due date for payment at the rate fixed under the *Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983*.

- (b) Interest is to be calculated daily from the due date and is to continue until the overdue money is paid. The interest will be capitalised on the last day of each month and may be recovered in the same way as Rent in arrears.
- (c) If the Landlord requires the Tenant to pay interest, it is without prejudice to any other rights, powers and remedies which the Landlord may have under this Lease or at law.

#### 7. Use of Premises

# 7.1. Tenant's obligations

The Tenant must:

- (a) not use the Premises or permit the Premises to be used for any purpose other than the Permitted Use;
- (b) not use the Premises for any illegal purpose;
- (c) ensure the Premises are kept secure, clean and free from debris and rubbish;
- (d) except as required for the Permitted Use and subject to this Lease, not do anything in or on the Premises which in the reasonable opinion of the Landlord causes or may cause interference, nuisance, disturbance or danger to the Landlord, any other occupier(s) of the Land, or the occupier(s) or owner(s) of any other property (including without limitation the occupier(s) or owner(s) of any adjacent land or land linked to the Land);
- (e) not keep or use chemicals, inflammable liquids, acids or other hazardous things on the Premises except as required for the Permitted Use, or create fire hazards;
- (f) not overload the floor, walls, roof or any other part of the Premises or, not without the Landlord's consent, bring onto or remove from the Premises any plant or heavy equipment which by reason of its weight or vibration in its operation or in any way is likely in the reasonable opinion of the Landlord to cause damage to any part of the Premises;
- (g) not erect, display, affix or exhibit on or at the Premises any signs except for signs that:
  - (i) are reasonably necessary in connection with the Permitted Use; and
  - (ii) comply with all Laws, and then only after obtaining necessary planning and building permits from the relevant Government Agency;
- (h) observe fire precautions;
- (i) at all times exercise due care, skill and judgement and act with the utmost good faith;
- (j) only install fixtures or fittings that are necessary for the Permitted Use;

- (k) observe any relevant Code of Practice;
- (I) at all times carry out the Permitted Use in a businesslike and reputable manner as determined by the Landlord in the Landlord's absolute discretion:
- (m) provide the Landlord (and keep the Landlord updated when it changes) with the name, address, telephone number and email address of a person or persons to contact during and after business hours if an emergency arises which affects the Premises; and
- (n) obtain, maintain and comply with all consents or approvals from all Government Agencies which, from time to time, are necessary or appropriate for the Permitted Use. The Tenant must not by any act or omission cause or permit any consent or approval to lapse or be revoked.

# 7.2. No warranty as to use

- (a) The Landlord makes no promise or warranty (either present or future) that the Premises are or will remain fit for the Permitted Use.
- (b) The Tenant has entered into this Lease with full knowledge of and subject to any prohibitions or restrictions contained in any Law or any Requirement on how the Premises may be used now or in the future.

#### 8. Works

# 8.1. Major Works

- (a) If the Landlord is not the Minister then, in this Clause 8.1, wherever the Landlord's consent or approval is required, the Tenant must also immediately notify the Minister in writing of the proposed Major Works including the same details as are required under Clause 8.1(c).
- (b) Subject to the Retail Act, the Tenant must not, and must not permit any other person to, construct any Major Works on the Premises without the Landlord's prior written consent, which consent is at the Landlord's absolute discretion.
- (c) In seeking the Landlord's consent, the Tenant must submit any plans and specifications for the proposed Major Works to the Landlord for approval. If the Landlord initially declines to grant consent, the Tenant must resubmit revised plans and specifications for the Landlord's consideration.
- (d) The Landlord may give consent on Condition that:
  - (i) subject to the Retail Act, in carrying out any Major Works, the Tenant complies with all reasonable directions of the Landlord in accordance with the consent given by the Landlord, and such directions may include Requirements in relation to materials and contractors or tradesmen to be used to construct the Major Works;
  - (ii) any Major Works are completed promptly and continuously in a proper and workmanlike manner, in accordance with all Laws and Requirements and the terms of the consent given by the Landlord;

- (iii) in carrying out the Major Works the Tenant does not do anything that in the reasonable opinion of the Landlord causes or may cause interference, nuisance, disturbance or danger to any other occupier(s) of the Land, or the occupier(s) or owner(s) of any adjacent land or land linked to the Land;
- (iv) the Tenant pays on demand all Costs incurred by the Landlord in considering or inspecting the Major Works and its supervision, including without limitation the reasonable fees of architects, engineers or other building consultants reasonably engaged by or on behalf of the Landlord for this purpose;
- (v) the Tenant obtains, maintains and complies with the terms of any approvals or permits from Government Agencies which are required in connection with the proposed Major Works, and must on request by the Landlord produce for inspection copies of all such approvals and permits;
- (vi) within 30 days of completion of the Major Works, the Tenant produces to the Landlord, copies of any unconditional certificates of compliance or satisfactory completion issued by relevant Government Agencies and a certificate by a consultant approved by the Landlord that the Major Works have been carried out in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the Landlord; and
- (vii) the Major Works are completed within the time period (if any) reasonably specified by the Landlord.

#### 8.2. Minor Works

- (a) The Tenant may construct Minor Works on the Premises by providing the Landlord with 14 days prior written Notice, with the exception of an emergency whereby the Tenant must notify the Landlord as soon as reasonably possible.
- (b) In carrying out the Minor Works, the Tenant must comply with the requirements and obligations in:
  - (i) Clause 8.1(d)(ii), with the exception that, as there will be no consent required to be obtained by the Tenant from the Landlord for Minor Works, there will be no terms of consent by the Landlord;
  - (ii) Clause 8.1(d)(iii);
  - (iii) Clause 8.1(d)(v); and
  - (iv) Clause 8.1(d)(vi), with the exception that the Tenant is only required to supply the items listed in Clause 8.1(d)(vi) upon the request of the Landlord,

in respect of the Minor Works.

#### 9. Ownership of Improvements

# 9.1. During the Term

Until the Lease comes to an end, the Tenant's Improvements will be owned, maintained and, may be, depreciated by the Tenant.

#### 9.2. End of Lease

At the end or sooner determination of this Lease, the Tenant's Improvements and property will be dealt with in accordance with Clause 22.2.

#### 10. Construction works

- (a) The Tenant will comply with the applicable Laws in place from time to time with respect to work health and safety on the Premises.
- (b) This Clause shall apply to the exclusion of Clause 10(c) in the event that the Tenant is licensed to self-insure under the *Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988* (Cth) and is therefore covered by the *Work Health and Safety Act 2011* (Cth) (Commonwealth OHS Act) rather than the *Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004* (Vic) (Victorian OHS Act) and the *Occupational Health and Safety Regulations 2017* (Vic) (Victorian OHS Regulations):
  - (i) If the Tenant undertakes construction work at the Premises that is a 'construction project' for the purposes of regulation 292 of the Work Health and Safety Regulations 2011 (Cth) (Commonwealth OHS Regulations):
    - (A) the Tenant acknowledges and accepts that:
      - (I) it is the person conducting a business or undertaking that commissions a construction project; and
      - (II) the Tenant is the principal contractor for the project; and
      - the Tenant will discharge the duties of a principal contractor under the Commonwealth OHS Regulations; or
    - (B) the Tenant will engage a suitably qualified person as 'principal contractor' for the construction project and will authorise that principal contractor to have management and control of the Workplace and to discharge the duties imposed on a principal contractor under the Commonwealth OHS Regulations; and
    - (C) notwithstanding the appointment of a principal contractor by the Tenant under the Commonwealth OHS Regulations, the Tenant will do all things necessary to:
      - (I) procure the agreement of the subcontractor to comply with the terms of the Victorian OHS Act and the Victorian OHS Regulations as if the principal contractor had been appointed as

- principal contractor in accordance with the Victorian OHS Regulations; and
- (II) ensure that any principal contractor appointed by the Tenant satisfies the obligations of a principal contractor under the Victorian OHS Act and Victorian OHS Regulations.
- (ii) If, for any reason, the engagement of a principal contractor by the Tenant under Clause 10(b)(i)(B) is not effective, the Tenant will be responsible for and will do all things necessary to fulfil the duties imposed on a principal contractor under the Commonwealth OHS Regulations.
- (c) This Clause shall apply to the exclusion of Clause 10(b) in the event that the Tenant is a duty holder covered by the Victorian OHS Act and the Victorian OHS Regulations:
  - (i) If the Tenant undertakes construction work at the Premises that is a 'construction project' for the purposes of regulation 333 of the Victorian OHS Regulations then:
    - (A) the Landlord appoints the Tenant to act as principal contractor for the construction project and authorises the Tenant to have management and control of the Workplace to the extent necessary to discharge the duties imposed on a principal contractor; and
    - (B) the Tenant agrees to fulfil the duties imposed on a principal contractor under the Victorian OHS Regulations for the construction project and the Tenant acknowledges and accepts management and control of the Workplace to the extent necessary to discharge the aforementioned duties imposed on a principal contractor; or
    - (C) the Tenant will appoint a suitably qualified person as 'principal contractor' for the construction project and will authorise that principal contractor to have management and control of the Workplace to the extent necessary to discharge the duties imposed on a principal contractor under the Victorian OHS Regulations; and
    - (D) If, for any reason, the appointment of a principal contractor by the Tenant under subparagraph 10(c)(i)(C) is not effective, the Tenant will be responsible for and will do all things necessary to fulfil the duties imposed on a principal contractor under the Victorian OHS Regulations.

### 11. Compliance with Laws and Requirements

### 11.1. Compliance with Laws and Requirements

(a) The Tenant at its own Cost must comply with all Laws and Requirements relating to the Premises, the Tenant's Improvements and the Permitted Use. Where the Tenant receives any Notice associated with any such Law

- or Requirement, the Tenant must promptly provide a complete copy of the Notice to the Landlord.
- (b) The Tenant must keep in force and available for inspection by the Landlord all licences, permits and registrations required for the carrying on of any business use or other activity conducted by the Tenant in or upon the Premises.

# 11.2. Landlord may comply if Tenant defaults

If the Tenant fails to comply with Clause 11.1(a) then the Landlord may elect to comply with any Law or Requirement referred to in Clause 11.1(a) either in part or whole and may require the Tenant to comply with the balance of any such Law or Requirement. If the Landlord does this:

- (a) any Costs incurred by the Landlord must be paid or reimbursed to the Landlord by the Tenant; and
- (b) it is without prejudice to any of the Landlord's other rights in respect of noncompliance by the Tenant with its obligations under this Lease.

### 11.3. Landlord's compliance Costs

- (a) If compliance with a Law or Requirement was the Tenant's responsibility but was undertaken by the Landlord, the Tenant must on demand pay to the Landlord all reasonable Costs incurred by or on behalf of the Landlord.
- (b) The Tenant must pay any Costs owing under Clause 11.3(a) within 30 days of the Landlord's demand.

# 12. Maintenance and repair

### 12.1. General repairing obligation

- (a) The Tenant's repair and maintenance obligations are set out in Item 11.
- (b) The Tenant must immediately notify the Landlord in writing of any damage to the Premises.
- (c) The Tenant, at its Cost, must promptly repair damage to the Premises and the Tenant's Improvements.
- (d) In carrying out repairs required under this Lease, the Tenant must use high quality materials and workmanship and such repairs must be in keeping with the standard, quality and appearance of the Premises.
- (e) If the Retail Act applies to this Lease, to the extent permitted by the Retail Act, the Tenant must reimburse the Landlord on demand for any Costs incurred by the Landlord in maintaining the structure of the Premises in accordance with s 52 of the Retail Act, as an incident of the Tenant's obligation to pay Outgoings under Clause 4.1 above.

# 12.2. Landlord's right of inspection

The Landlord or any person authorised by the Landlord may enter the Premises to:

- (a) view the state of repair and condition of the Premises and the Tenant's Improvements;
- (b) determine the Tenant's compliance with the Tenant's obligations and requirements under this Lease;
- (c) implement fire prevention, protection or suppression measures on the Premises; or
- (d) carry out such testing as reasonably required by the Landlord to monitor the environmental condition of the Land and the Tenant's compliance with Clause 28,

#### if the Landlord:

- (e) does so in the presence of a responsible officer of the Tenant (if required by the Tenant); and
- (f) enters at reasonable times and on reasonable Notice (except in the case of an emergency when no Notice is required).

# 12.3. Enforcement of repairing obligations

- (a) The Landlord may serve on the Tenant a Notice:
  - (i) specifying any failure by the Tenant to carry out any repair or maintenance of the Premises and the Tenant's Improvements; and
  - (ii) requiring the Tenant to carry out the repair or maintenance within a reasonable time.
- (b) If the Tenant fails to comply with the Landlord's Notice under Clause 12.3(a), the Landlord may elect to carry out the repair or maintenance and any Costs incurred or paid by the Landlord must be paid by the Tenant when demanded by the Landlord.

# 12.4. Landlord may enter to repair

- (a) The Landlord, and those authorised by the Landlord, may at all reasonable times after giving the Tenant reasonable Notice (except in the case of emergency when no Notice is required) enter the Premises to carry out any repairs and maintenance, at the cost of the Tenant, in the circumstances set out below. In doing so the Landlord must endeavour not to cause undue inconvenience to the Tenant.
- (b) The circumstances for entry are:
  - (i) to carry out any repair or maintenance which the Landlord considers necessary or desirable or which relate to anything which the Landlord is obliged or entitled to do under this Lease;
  - (ii) where a Government Agency requires any repair or work to be undertaken on or to the Premises or the Tenant's Improvements which the Tenant has failed to do promptly and which the Landlord in its discretion elects to do; or

(iii) if the Landlord elects to carry out any repair work which the Tenant is required or liable to do under this Lease but has failed to do so.

# 13. Fire protection works

The Tenant must:

- (a) undertake all fire protection, prevention and/or suppression works on the Premises as required by Law to the satisfaction of the Landlord and the responsible fire Authority (which may include the Landlord or the Landlord's Associates); and
- (b) allow the Landlord with or without vehicles and equipment, workmen or others at all times to enter the Premises for fire protection, prevention and/or suppression purposes.

# 14. Vegetation

The Tenant must not without obtaining all necessary permits:

- ringbark, fell, cut, destroy, injure or remove any living or dead vegetation (with the exception of weeds), tree or timber (including, without limitation, fallen timber) on the Premises;
- (b) plough, cultivate, work, break up or remove soil or construct any earthworks on the Premises; or
- (c) plant any vegetation, seed or crop on the Premises.

### 15. Reporting

Upon the request of the Landlord, the Tenant must provide to the Landlord, by the date reasonably required by the Landlord, a written report setting out any information reasonably requested by the Landlord pertaining to this Lease.

# 16. Assignment and subletting

# 16.1. No assignment of Tenant's interest

- (a) The Tenant must not without the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent will be at the Landlord's absolute discretion:
  - (i) assign, transfer, grant any licence, or part with or share the possession or occupation of or otherwise deal with or dispose of the Tenant's estate or interest in the Premises or any part of the Premises; or
  - (ii) declare itself trustee of the Premises or any part of the Premises or of any legal or equitable estate or interest in the Premises.
- (b) This Clause does not limit Clause 16.2.
- (c) Where the Landlord is not the Minister, the Tenant acknowledges that before granting any consent under Clause 16.1(a), the Landlord has obtained the Minister's approval and consent.

# 16.2. Deemed assignment on change of shareholding

- (a) There is a deemed assignment under Clause 16.1 if the Tenant is a corporation and there is any change in:
  - (i) the beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the shares in the capital of the corporation or any holding company of the corporation whether that change occurs as a result of one or more transactions; or
  - (ii) the beneficial ownership of the business or assets in the corporation or part of it which results in a change in the effective control of the Tenant.
- (b) If any of these events occur, then the Tenant must obtain the Landlord's written consent under Clause 16.1 and provide written notification to the Minister.
- (c) Subject to anything to the contrary in the Act, this does not apply in relation to:
  - (i) the sale of shares (in the Tenant or the Tenant's holding company) that are listed on a recognised Stock Exchange;
  - (ii) the first Tenant under this Lease or a related body corporate to that Tenant; or
  - (iii) a company whose shares are listed on a recognised Stock Exchange.

# 16.3. Conditions of assignment - general

- (a) Unless the Retail Act applies, the Landlord's consent to an assignment of this Lease is at the Landlord's absolute discretion. The Landlord acknowledges that before granting any such consent under Clause 16.1(a), the Landlord has obtained the Minister's approval and consent.
- (b) In requesting an assignment of this Lease, the Tenant must:
  - (i) request in writing that the Landlord consent to the assignment of the Lease to a new tenant;
  - (ii) remedy any breach of this Lease of which the Tenant has received written Notice from the Landlord;
  - (iii) provide to the Landlord the name and address of the new tenant and prove to the Landlord's reasonable satisfaction that the new tenant is solvent and able to comply with its obligations under this Lease by providing at least 2 references as to the financial circumstances of the new tenant and at least 2 references as to the business experience of the new tenant;
  - (iv) execute, and procure the new tenant to execute, an assignment of lease which must include a condition by which the Tenant releases the Landlord from any claims arising under or in

connection with the Lease and is otherwise in a form approved by the Landlord;

- (v) where the new tenant is a corporation, procure such directors or shareholders of the new tenant, as may be reasonably required by the Landlord, to execute a guarantee and indemnity, in a form provided to them by the Landlord; and
- (vi) pay the Landlord's reasonable Costs incurred in connection with approving the new tenant and the Costs of the preparation, negotiation and stamping of any document required under this Clause.

# 16.4. Conditions of assignment - Retail Act

If the Retail Act applies, the Landlord will consent to a proposed assignment of this Lease if:

- (a) the Tenant seeks the Landlord's consent in the manner provided by the Retail Act:
- (b) the Tenant is not in breach of this Lease when it makes the consent request;
- the Tenant proves to the satisfaction of the Landlord, that the proposed assignee is a respectable, responsible and solvent person having the financial capacity and trading experience necessary to enable the Permitted Use to be successfully undertaken. The Tenant must submit to the Landlord all information reasonably required by the Landlord about the proposed assignee including, without limitation:
  - (i) at least two references as to the proposed assignee's business experience:
  - (ii) at least two references as to the proposed assignee's financial circumstances; and
  - (iii) a detailed statement of the financial circumstances of the proposed assignee and any proposed guarantor;
- (d) the Tenant arranges for the proposed assignee to execute a deed of assignment of lease:
  - (i) to which the Landlord is a party;
  - (ii) in a form approved by the Landlord; and
  - (iii) which contains a covenant by the assignee to be bound by the terms of the Lease, and unless the Retail Act provides otherwise, an acknowledgment by the Tenant that the Tenant is not to be released from its obligations under the Lease;
- (e) if the proposed assignee is a company (other than a company whose shares are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange), all the directors and shareholders of the company and any ultimate holding company (as

defined in the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth)) of that company must by deed (in a form acceptable to the Landlord) guarantee the due performance by the company of the terms and conditions of the Lease;

- (f) the Tenant pays to the Landlord all Costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord in enquiring as to the respectability, responsibility and solvency of the proposed assignee and of obtaining the approval by the Landlord's solicitors of the documents referred to in this Clause 16.4; and
- (g) the Landlord has obtained the Minister's approval and consent.

### 16.5. No sub-letting

- (a) The Tenant must not without the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent will be at the Landlord's absolute discretion, sublease the Premises. The Tenant acknowledges that:
  - (i) any sublease of the Premises must be in a form approved by the Landlord and must provide that the sublease will automatically end if this Lease is ended for any reason; and
  - (ii) any sublease of the Premises must contain a prohibition on granting any further sublease and must also contain any other terms and conditions required by the Landlord.
- (b) The Landlord acknowledges that before granting any consent under Clause 16.5(a), the Landlord has obtained the Minister's approval and consent.

# 16.6. Mortgage or charge

The Tenant must not without the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent will be at the Landlord's absolute discretion, grant any mortgage, charge or financial security over the Lease. The Landlord may give consent subject to any conditions given by the Landlord at its discretion and only after obtaining the Minister's approval and consent.

### 16.7. Acceptance of rent by Landlord

The acceptance by the Landlord of any rent or other payment from any person other than the Tenant does not constitute an acknowledgment by the Landlord that it recognises that person as the authorised assignee or sub-tenant.

#### 16.8. Section 144 excluded

Section 144 of the *Property Law Act 1958* does not apply to this Lease.

#### 17. Insurance

### 17.1. Insurances to be taken out by Tenant

(a) The Tenant at its Cost must effect and maintain in the name of the Tenant, noting the interests of the Landlord, the insurance policies, on terms that are acceptable to the Landlord, set out in Item 12, and any other insurance the Landlord reasonably requests from time to time.

- (b) All policies must be:
  - (i) endorsed to give the Landlord full cover as principal under a principal's indemnity for its vicarious liability arising from the Tenant's use and occupation of the Premises under this Lease, that is not contributory with any policy taken out by the Landlord;
  - (ii) endorsed to extend the indemnity under the policy to include the Tenant's liability under Clauses 18 and 28; and
  - (iii) on terms that:
    - (A) any act, omission or breach of duty or condition by an insured person will not prejudice the rights or interest of any other insured person; and
    - (B) each insured person is covered as if a separate policy has been issued to that person.

### 17.2. Tenant's insurance obligations

The Tenant must:

- ensure that the policies of insurance effected by the Tenant under this Clause 17:
  - (i) are taken out with an insurance office or company authorised by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority to conduct new or renewal insurance business in Australia or otherwise as reasonably approved by the Landlord;
  - (ii) are for such amounts, cover such risks and contain such conditions as are reasonably acceptable to or reasonably required by the Landlord and the Landlord's insurer(s); and
  - (iii) have no exclusions, endorsements or alterations other than required by this Lease unless first approved in writing by the Landlord:
- (b) when required by the Landlord, produce to the Landlord the policies of insurance required under Clause 17.1, the certificates of currency; and
- (c) pay all premiums and other money payable in respect of the insurance policies when they become due and payable.

#### 17.3. Effect on Landlord's insurances

The Tenant must not without the prior consent in writing of the Landlord do anything or fail to do anything or allow anything to be done or not done to or on the Premises which will or may:

- (a) increase the premium for any Landlord's insurance related to the Land, the Premises, or the Tenant's Improvements;
- (b) vitiate or render void or voidable any insurance related to the Land, the Premises or the Tenant's Improvements (as applicable); or

(c) conflict with any Law or any Requirement or with any requirements of the Landlord's insurer(s) relating to fire, fire safety or fire prevention or with any insurance policy related to the Land, the Premises or the Tenant's Improvements.

#### 17.4. Extra Costs of insurance

The Tenant must pay to the Landlord on demand all extra reasonable Costs of insurance in respect of any other matters or related to the Premises or the Tenant's Improvements because of the extra risk caused or contributed to by the Tenant's use or occupation of the Premises.

#### 18. Release and indemnities

Except to the extent of any negligence by the Landlord or the Landlord's Associates and to the extent permitted by Law and in equity the Tenant:

- (a) acknowledges that:
  - (i) the Tenant occupies the Premises at its own risk;
  - (ii) all property located in, on or under the Premises is at the sole risk of the Tenant; and
  - (iii) the Landlord and each of the Landlord's Associates is not liable for any Claim that the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates or any person claiming by, through or under the Tenant may incur or make for any damage, or loss to any property or death, injury or illness to any person regardless of the manner of its occurrence;
- (b) releases the Landlord and each of the Landlord's Associates, from all Claims of every kind and from all liability resulting from any accident or damage to property or death of or injury or illness to any person of whatsoever nature or kind from any cause including, without limitation:
  - (i) the carrying out of the Permitted Use;
  - (ii) entering on the Premises;
  - (iii) any breach or non-observance of this Lease; and
  - (iv) damage to the Premises arising as a result of climate change;
- (c) indemnifies and keeps indemnified the Landlord and each of the Landlord's Associates against all Claims (including without limitation Claims relating to damage to the Premises, damage to or loss of any property on or from the Premises or the death, injury or illness of any person on the Premises) for which the Landlord and each of the Landlord's Associates will or may be or become liable, whether during or after the Term, in respect of or arising from any cause whatsoever including:
  - (i) the carrying out of the Permitted Use;
  - (ii) entering on the Premises; and
  - (iii) any breach or non-observance of this Lease,

whereby this indemnity does not limit any other indemnity in this Lease; and

- (d) for the avoidance of any doubt, acknowledges that any release or indemnity given by the Tenant under this Lease extends to any loss, liability, damage or expense, including without limitation:
  - (i) loss of profit;
  - (ii) liability to third parties;
  - (iii) legal Costs (on a party-party basis) in respect of enforcing the release or indemnity or defending any claim brought by any party, including a third party, in respect of a matter which is the subject of the release or indemnity; and
  - (iv) loss, liability, damage or expense arising from or in any way connected with an act, default or omission or other event in respect of which the release or indemnity is given.

### 19. Landlord's covenant, decisions and actions

#### 19.1. Landlord covenant

If the Tenant pays the Rent and observes and performs in a reasonable time its obligations under this Lease, the Tenant may occupy and enjoy the Premises during the Term without any interruption by the Landlord or by any person claiming through the Landlord except as provided in this Lease. The Landlord must at all times exercise due care, skill and judgement and act with the utmost good faith.

# 19.2. Climate Change

The Tenant acknowledges and accepts that the Landlord's decisions under this Lease and/or any Law may be informed by the Landlord's assessment of the potential impact of the decision on climate change in accordance with s 17 and s 20 of the *Climate Change Act 2017*.

# 20. Damage and destruction

- (a) Unless the Retail Act applies, if the Premises or any part of the Premises are damaged or destroyed, or there is interruption to the access of the Premises so as to render the Premises or any part of the Premises wholly or substantially unfit for the Permitted Use and otherwise unfit for the occupation or use of the Tenant or inaccessible by any usual means of access, the Landlord, in its absolute discretion, may:
  - (i) offer the Tenant an equally convenient means of alternative access;
  - (ii) repair, at the Tenant's Cost, the damage or destruction to the Premises, unless the Tenant is required to repair all, or any part, of the Premises under Clause 20(a)(iii);
  - (iii) direct the Tenant to repair, at its Cost, the damage or destruction to the Premises or any part of the Premises;

- (iv) direct the Tenant to remove any remaining Tenant's Improvements and reinstate the surface of the Premises to its condition as at the Commencement Date; or
- (v) terminate this Lease by Notice to the Tenant.
- (b) If the Landlord elects to repair the Premises under Clause 20(a)(ii):
  - the Landlord must commence such repairs as soon as practicable following such damage, destruction, interruption or inaccessibility, and complete the repairs within 12 months of commencing such repairs; and
  - (ii) a reasonable proportion of the Rent will abate from the date of such damage, destruction, interruption or inaccessibility until such repairs are completed.
- (c) If the Landlord directs the Tenant to repair the Premises or any part of the Premises under Clause 20(a):
  - (i) the Tenant must commence such repairs within a reasonable timeframe as directed by the Landlord of such damage, destruction, interruption or inaccessibility, and complete the repairs within 12 months of commencing such repairs; and
  - (ii) a reasonable proportion of the Rent will abate from the date of such damage, destruction, interruption or inaccessibility until such repairs are completed.
- (d) Subject to Clause 20(b), if the Landlord:
  - (i) fails to meet the timelines in Clause 20(b); or
  - (ii) fails to construct an alternative means of access under Clause 20(a)(i) or terminate this Lease under Clause 20(a)(v) as soon as reasonably practicable after such damage, destruction, interruption or inaccessibility first occurs,

the Tenant may immediately terminate this Lease by Notice to the Landlord.

- (e) The Tenant cannot exercise its right to terminate under Clause 20(d) where the Tenant has caused or materially contributed to the event giving rise to the right of termination.
- (f) If the Tenant fails to meet the timelines in Clause 20(c), then the Landlord, in its absolute discretion, may:
  - (i) at the Tenant's Cost, carry out such works required to be undertaken by the Tenant under Clause 20(a); or
  - (ii) terminate this Lease, whereby the Tenant will not have any right whatsoever to claim any compensation.

### 21. Termination and default

#### 21.1. Events of default

The following are events of default:

- (a) if the Rent or any other money payable under this Lease is not paid on the due date for payment whether legally demanded or not;
- (b) if the Tenant at any time fails to perform or observe any of its obligations under this Lease; and/or
- (c) if there is an Insolvency Event affecting the Tenant or any Guarantor.

#### 21.2. Forfeiture of Lease

If an event of default occurs the Landlord may, to the extent permitted by and having complied with the requirements imposed by Law and without prejudice to any other Claim which the Landlord has or may have against the Tenant or any other person, at any time re-enter the Premises or any part of it in the name of the whole at which time this Lease will be absolutely determined.

# 21.3. Re-entry

The right of re-entry for breach of any covenant or condition to which s 146(1) of the *Property Law Act 1958* applies must not be exercised until the expiration of 14 days after the Landlord has served on the Tenant the Notice required under that section.

# 21.4. Landlord may rectify

If the Tenant is in default under this Lease and fails to commence to rectify that default within 14 days of the Landlord notifying the Tenant in writing of that default and requiring its rectification or, having commenced, fails to expeditiously complete that rectification within a reasonable time, the Landlord may, but will not be obliged to, remedy at any time without further Notice any default by the Tenant under this Lease. If the Landlord so elects all reasonable Costs incurred by the Landlord (including without limitation legal Costs and expenses) in remedying the default will constitute a liquidated debt and must be paid by the Tenant to the Landlord on demand.

#### 21.5. Waiver

- (a) To be effective, any waiver must be by Notice.
- (b) The Landlord's failure to take advantage of any default or breach of covenant by the Tenant will not be or be construed as a waiver of it, nor will any custom or practice which may grow up between any of the parties in the course of administering this Lease be construed to waive or to lessen the right of the Landlord to insist upon the timely performance or observance by the Tenant of any covenant or condition of this Lease or to exercise any rights given to the Landlord in respect of any such default.
- (c) Acceptance of Rent or any other payment under this Lease does not constitute a waiver by the Landlord of a default by the Tenant.
- (d) A waiver by the Landlord of a particular breach or default is not deemed to be a waiver of the same or any other subsequent breach or default.

#### 21.6. Tender after determination

If the Landlord accepts money from the Tenant after the Landlord ends this Lease the Landlord may (in the absence of any express election of the Landlord) apply it:

- (a) first, on account of any Rent and other moneys accrued and due under this Lease but unpaid at the date of the Lease is ended; and
- (b) second, on account of the Landlord's Costs of re-entry.

#### 21.7. Essential Terms

The Landlord and the Tenant agree that each of the following covenants by the Tenant are essential terms of this Lease:

- (a) to pay the Rent;
- (b) to use the Premises solely for the conduct of the Permitted Use;
- (c) to comply with Laws and Requirements;
- (d) to keep the Premises and the Tenant's Improvements in good condition;
- (e) not to part with possession or occupation of the Premises or grant any rights in relation to the Premises otherwise than in accordance with this Lease:
- (f) to effect and maintain all insurances required to be taken out by the Tenant:
- (g) to pay or reimburse the Outgoings; and
- (h) any other covenant in respect of which the Tenant's breach or nonobservance is serious, persistent and of a continuing nature.

# 21.8. Damages for breach

The Tenant covenants to compensate the Landlord for any breach of an essential term of this Lease. The Landlord may recover damages from the Tenant for any of these breaches. The Landlord's entitlement under this Clause is in addition to any other remedy or entitlement to which the Landlord is entitled (including the right to terminate this Lease).

### 21.9. Repudiation by Tenant

- (a) If the Tenant's conduct (whether an act or omission):
  - (ii) constitutes a repudiation of this Lease or of the Tenant's obligations under this Lease; or
  - (iii) is a breach of any Lease covenants,

the Tenant covenants to compensate the Landlord for the loss or damage suffered by reason of the repudiation or breach.

(b) The Landlord may recover damages against the Tenant as a result of repudiation or breach of covenant for the loss or damage suffered by the Landlord during the entire term of this Lease.

### 21.10. Acceptance of Rent

The demand or acceptance by the Landlord of arrears or of any late payment of Rent or a sum in part payment does not constitute a waiver of the essentiality of the Tenant's obligations to pay Rent.

# 21.11. Acts by the Landlord not to constitute forfeiture

The Landlord's entitlement to recover damages is not affected or limited if any of the following events occur:

- (a) the Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises;
- (b) the Landlord elects to re-enter the Premises or to terminate the Lease;
- (c) the Landlord accepts the Tenant's repudiation; or
- (d) the parties' conduct (or that of any of their servants or agents) constitutes a surrender by operation of Law.

# 21.12. Landlord may institute proceedings at any time

The Landlord may at any time institute legal proceedings claiming damages against the Tenant for the entire Lease term including the period before and after the repudiation, abandonment, termination, acceptance of repudiation or surrender by operation of Law referred to in Clause 21.11.

#### 21.13. Mitigation

Nothing in Clause 21 operates to relieve the Landlord of any obligation which would otherwise apply to mitigate any loss or damage suffered by the Landlord.

#### 22. Determination of Term

### 22.1. Tenant to yield up

The Tenant at the expiration or sooner determination of the Term must vacate the Premises and deliver it up in good repair and condition in accordance with the Tenant's obligations under this Lease and to the satisfaction of the Landlord, acting reasonably.

### 22.2. Tenant's Improvements

- (a) Subject to Clause 22.2(b), at the expiry or sooner determination of the Lease, the Landlord will, in its absolute discretion, by written Notice inform the Tenant whether:
  - (i) the Tenant's Improvements and/or property (whether in whole or in part) must be removed from the Premises, whereby the Tenant must continue to pay the Rent, the Outgoings and all other money payable under this Lease until it has removed the Tenant's Improvements and/or property from the Premises; or

- (ii) the ownership of the Tenant's Improvements and/or property (whether in whole or in part) reverts to the Landlord without any payment or compensation, whereby the Tenant must not remove or demolish the Tenant's Improvements and instead deliver up the Tenant's Improvements and/or property in good repair and condition in accordance with the Tenant's obligations under this Lease.
- (b) Unless the Landlord agrees otherwise, at the expiry or sooner determination of the Lease:
  - (i) the Tenant must remove from the Premises all Tenant's Improvements set out in Item 19 if any, whereby the Tenant must continue to pay the Rent, the Outgoings and all other money payable under this Lease until it has removed the Tenant's Improvements set out in Item 19 from the Premises; and
  - (ii) the ownership of the Tenant's Improvements set out in Item 20 reverts to the Landlord without any payment or compensation, whereby the Tenant must not remove or demolish the Tenant's Improvements and instead deliver up the Tenant's Improvements in good repair and condition in accordance with the Tenant's obligations under this Lease.

### 22.3. Tenant not to cause damage

- (a) The Tenant must not cause or contribute to any damage to the Premises in the removal of the Tenant's Improvements.
- (b) If the Tenant causes or contributes to any damage to the Premises in the removal of the Tenant's Improvements, the Tenant must make good the damage.
- (c) If the Tenant fails to make good, the Landlord may make good and clean the Premises at the Cost of and as agent for the Tenant.

### 22.4. Failure by Tenant to remove Tenant's Improvements

If the Tenant fails to remove the Tenant's Improvements and property in accordance with Clause 22.2 or if the Landlord re-enters the Premises, the Landlord may at its option (without prejudice to any action or other remedy which the Landlord has):

- (a) without being guilty of any manner of trespass, remove and store the Tenant's Improvements and property in such manner as the Landlord in its discretion deems fit at the risk and at the Cost of the Tenant;
- (b) sell the Tenant's Improvements and property as the attorney of the Tenant and use the proceeds of sale in payment of any Rent or other money owing by the Tenant to the Landlord and pay any residue promptly without interest to the Tenant; or
- (c) treat the Tenant's Improvements and property as if the Tenant had abandoned them and they had become the property of the Landlord, and deal with them in such manner as the Landlord thinks fit without being liable in any way to account to the Tenant for them.

### 22.5. Tenant to indemnify and pay Landlord's Costs

The Tenant must:

- indemnify and keep indemnified the Landlord for the Costs of removal and storage of the Tenant's Improvements and property and also in respect of all Claims which the Landlord may suffer or incur at the suit of any person (other than the Tenant) claiming an interest in the Tenant's Improvements and property by reason of the Landlord acting in any manner permitted in Clause 22.4; and
- (b) pay to the Landlord as a liquidated debt payable on demand any Costs incurred by the Landlord in exercising its rights under Clause 22.4, including any excess of Costs over money received in disposing of the Tenant's Improvements under the Landlord's rights contained in Clause 22.4.

#### 22.6. Earlier breaches

When this Lease ends it will not prejudice or affect any rights or remedies of the Landlord against the Tenant in respect of any earlier breach by the Tenant of any Lease covenants and conditions.

#### 23. Further Term

If there is a Further Term, then Special Condition 1 applies to this Lease.

# 24. Overholding

If the Tenant remains in occupation of the Premises without objection by the Landlord after the end of the Term:

- the Tenant will be deemed a tenant on the terms of this Lease from month to month but not for any period exceeding that permitted by Law; and
- (b) either the Landlord or the Tenant may end the Lease by giving to the other party at any time one month's Notice.

#### 25. GST

- (a) In this Clause, expressions set out in italics have the meaning given to those expressions in the GST Act.
- (b) An amount payable under this Lease by a party to the other party, in respect of a *supply* which is a *taxable supply*, represents the GST exclusive value of the *supply*.
- (c) The party who receives a *taxable supply* under this Lease from the Supplier must, upon receipt of a *tax invoice* from the Supplier, pay GST to the Supplier in addition to the GST exclusive consideration for the *supply*.
- (d) Any penalty or interest payable as a result of late payment of any GST payable under this Lease is payable by the party who causes the late payment.

(e) If the Supplier is entitled to an *input tax* credit for any GST recoverable from the other party under this Lease, the amount of GST payable by the other party is to be reduced by the amount of the *input tax* credit which the Supplier has received or is entitled to receive.

# 26. Personal Properties Security Act

- (a) In this Clause:
  - (i) any capitalised words and expressions that are not defined in this Lease will have the meanings ascribed to them in the PPSA;
  - (ii) Landlord Personal Property means any item of Personal Property:
    - (A) which is owned by the Landlord; or
    - (B) in which the Landlord has an interest,

that is located on the Premises at any time during the Term;

- (iii) **Personal Property** has the meaning given to that term in the PPSA including, without limitation, items of equipment, plant or business inventory, but excludes any fixtures annexed to or forming part of the land;
- (iv) **PPSA** means the *Personal Property Securities Act 2009* (Cth) and includes any regulations made under that Act;
- (v) **Security Interest** has the meaning given to that term in the PPSA; and
- (vi) **Tenant Personal Property** means any item of Personal Property:
  - (A) which is owned by the Tenant; or
  - (B) in which the Tenant has an interest,

that is located on the Premises at any time during the Term, or following the expiry or earlier determination of this Lease.

- (b) The Landlord may register any actual, impending or likely Security Interest arising from the operation of this Lease. The Tenant must not make any Claim against the Landlord in respect of any such registration, even if the registration is ended under s 151 of the PPSA, or it is determined by a court that registration of the Security Interest should not have occurred.
- (c) The Tenant:
  - (i) must do all things reasonably requested by the Landlord to enable the Landlord to register any of the Landlord's Security Interests arising in relation to this Lease and to enforce the Landlord's rights under this Clause and the PPSA;

- (ii) must not grant or permit the granting of any Security Interest in the Landlord Personal Property other than with the prior written consent of the Landlord:
- (iii) must not grant a Security Interest in respect of any of the Tenant Personal Property to any person other than the Landlord without obtaining the Landlord's prior written consent;
- (iv) must pay the Landlord's reasonable Costs in respect of anything done or attempted by the Landlord in the exercise of the Landlord's rights under this Clause or the PPSA;
- (v) agrees that on the expiry or earlier determination of this Lease, the Tenant must sign (or arrange for the holder of any registered Security Interest to sign) any document that the Landlord reasonably considers necessary to discharge any registered Security Interest in relation to the Tenant Personal Property or the Landlord Personal Property;
- (vi) gives the Landlord an irrevocable power of attorney to do anything the Landlord reasonably considers the Tenant must do (and is unable or unwilling to do) under this Clause;
- (vii) waives the right to receive a Verification Statement in respect of any Financing Statement or Financing Change Statement relating to any Security Interest granted to the Landlord by the Tenant; and
- (viii) charges in favour of the Landlord all of its title and interest in the Tenant Personal Property as security for the performance of the Tenant's obligations under this Lease, and acknowledges that this charge constitutes the granting of a Security Interest.
- (d) The Landlord and the Tenant agree not to disclose information of the kind that can be requested under s 275(1) of the PPSA in relation to any Security Interest held in respect of the Landlord Personal Property or the Tenant Personal Property.
- (e) Without limiting any other rights of the Landlord, if this Lease is terminated by the Landlord as a result of the Tenant's breach of the Lease, the Landlord may set off any loss or damage caused by that breach by taking custody of the Tenant Personal Property and may deal with it in any manner the Landlord sees fit.
- (f) If the Tenant is a natural person, the Tenant must provide the Landlord with the Tenant's date of birth and a certified copy of a Victorian Driver's Licence (or another form of identification acceptable to the Landlord) to confirm the Tenant's date of birth. The Landlord must keep the Tenant's date of birth and any supporting evidence secure and confidential at all times.
- (g) If there is any inconsistency between this Clause and any other provision of this Lease, the provisions of this Clause will prevail.

### 27. Security

The Tenant must provide a Security Deposit in the amount as specified in Item 14. If a Security Deposit is applicable, the Tenant must comply with Special Conditions relating to the Security Deposit.

### 28. Contamination and Environment

#### 28.1. Contamination

- (a) The Tenant acknowledges and agrees that:
  - (i) the Tenant will occupy the Premises in its condition as at the Commencement Date or the date of any earlier occupation by the Tenant and has entered into this Lease on that basis; and
  - (ii) the Landlord does not represent that the Premises are suitable for the Permitted Use. The Tenant represents and warrants that it has relied on its own enquiries as to the environmental condition and suitability of the Land for the Permitted Use.

### (b) The Tenant must:

- (i) comply with all applicable Environmental Protection Legislation and Requirements in respect of any Contamination in, on or under the Premises;
- (ii) use best endeavours not to cause Contamination on or of the Land and the surrounding Environment;
- (iii) not spill or deposit, or carry out any activities on the Land which may cause any Contamination, or permit any Contamination to escape in any other way into or on the Land, drainage or surrounding environment.-
- (iv) notify the Landlord if the Tenant finds or if the Tenant is notified of any Contamination is found on or near the Land; and
- clean up the Contamination that the Tenant has caused or contributed to in accordance with all applicable Environment Protection Legislation and do everything necessary to minimise harm presented by the Contamination.

# 28.2. Contamination Release and Indemnity

- (a) The Tenant releases and discharges the Landlord and each of the Landlord's Associates from all Claims, arising after the date of occupation under this Lease or any earlier date that the Tenant commenced occupation of the Premises, incurred by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates, as a result of the presence of Contamination in, on, under or migrating from the Premises, except to the extent that such Claims arise out of any negligence or unlawful act or omission or default of the Landlord or the Landlord's Associates.
- (b) In addition to any other indemnity in this Lease, from the Tenant's earliest occupation date, the Tenant indemnifies and keeps indemnified the Landlord and the Landlord's Associates against all Claims (including, without limitation, any Costs or expenses incurred in relation to any

Requirement issued or made under Environmental Protection Legislation) arising from any Contamination in, on, under or migrating from the Premises that has been caused, contributed to or exacerbated by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates occupation or use of the Premises.

# 28.3. Environmental management

The Tenant must comply with the Environmental Management obligations set out in Item 17 and Special Condition 6.

### 29. Retail Act

### 29.1. Application

The parties acknowledge that Item 15 sets out whether the Retail Act applies to this Lease.

# 29.2. Acknowledgements

Where the Retail Act applies, the Tenant acknowledges having received the following documents from the Landlord, at or prior to, the commencement of negotiations in relation to this Lease:

- (a) a disclosure statement, in the form required by the Retail Act; and
- (b) an information brochure about the Tenant's rights and responsibilities under this Lease and the Retail Act, in the form required by the Retail Act.

# 30. Landlord's delegation

If the Landlord is a Minister of the Crown in the right of the State of Victoria, then:

- (a) the Landlord may appoint any person as the Landlord's delegate to exercise all powers conferred by this Lease on the Landlord expressly, including, without limitation, the power to give any consent or approval under this Lease:
- (b) the Landlord may change the appointment at any time; and
- (c) unless expressly excluded by any provision of this Lease, any consent, any Notice, any consultation or any other thing which under the terms of this Lease is either required to be given, done or performed by the Landlord or is permitted to be given, done or performed by the Landlord may for the purposes of this Lease be properly given, done or performed by a person authorised by the Landlord to act on the Landlord's behalf.

#### 31. Disclosure

# 31.1. General disclosure

Subject to Clause 31.2, each party undertakes that it, its employees, agents or representatives will not disclose this Lease and all information flowing from it to a third person without the prior consent of all parties unless the disclosure is:

(a) related to information already within the public domain;

- (b) required by Law;
- (c) made to a stock exchange or similar regulatory authority the rules of which require the disclosure;
- (d) reasonably necessary for the purpose of any administrative or legal proceedings involving the parties;
- (e) reasonably necessary for financing purposes;
- (f) made to professional advisers of a party bound to treat any information disclosed to them as confidential; or
- (g) made to advisers and other experts of that party,

and the disclosure is made on the basis that it is confidential.

### 31.2. Minister's disclosure

This Clause 31.2 applies only where the Landlord is the Minister, whereby:

- (a) the Tenant acknowledges that so long as the Landlord is the Minister this Lease may be published in accordance with the State's 'Contract management and contract disclosure policy', in any medium, including, without limitation, the internet, except to the extent that the Landlord is satisfied, using as a guide the criteria provided in the *Freedom of Information Act 1982* (Vic), that the relevant term should be exempt from publication; and
- (b) for so long as the Landlord is the Minister, the Landlord may for benchmarking purposes, disclose to any Government Agency (whether of Victoria or any other State or Territory of Australia) the terms and conditions of this Lease without identifying the Rent and Outgoings, provided that prior to making any disclosure, the Landlord notifies the Tenant of the proposed recipient and the extent of the proposed disclosure.

#### 32. Miscellaneous

### 32.1. Landlord's consent

- (a) Unless expressed otherwise, any consent or approval to be granted by the Landlord, and where applicable also the Minister, under this Lease will be at the Landlord's and Minister's absolute discretion.
- (b) If the Landlord, and the Minister where the Landlord is not the Minister, fails to grant any such consent or approval within 20 Business Days from the Tenant's request then this is deemed to be a refusal of consent and/or approval.

### 32.2. Severability

This Lease must be interpreted so that it complies with all Laws applicable in Victoria. Any provision must be read down so as to give it as much effect as possible. If it is not possible to give a provision any effect at all then it must be severed from the rest of the Lease.

### 32.3. Entire agreement

This Lease is the entire agreement of the Landlord and Tenant on the subject matter. The only enforceable obligations and liabilities of the Landlord and Tenant in relation to the subject matter are those that arise out of the provisions contained in this Lease. All representations, communications and prior agreements in relation to the subject matter are merged in and superseded by this Lease.

### 32.4. Negation of warranties

- (a) The Tenant acknowledges that it has entered into this Lease solely on the basis of the terms and conditions in this Lease and that no additional warranties, representations or promises have been made by the Landlord or its agents.
- (b) Without limiting Clause 32.4(a), the Tenant acknowledges that:
  - (i) no warranties have been given by the Landlord that the Premises are suitable for the Permitted Use; and
  - (ii) subject to this Lease, the Tenant must do all things required, including, without limitation, obtaining all permits and approvals, to enable the Premises to be used for the Permitted Use.

### 32.5. Governing law

This Lease is governed by and construed according to Victorian Law. The parties irrevocably submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of that State and the courts of appeal from them.

#### 32.6. Moratorium

To the extent permitted by law, the application to this Lease or to any party of any Law or any Requirement or any moratorium having the effect of extending or reducing the Term, reducing or postponing the payment of Rent or any part of it or otherwise affecting the operation of the terms of this Lease or its application to any party is excluded and negatived.

# 32.7. Exclusion of statutory provisions

The covenants, powers and provisions implied in leases by virtue of the *Transfer of Land Act 1958* are expressly negatived.

#### 32.8. Notices

- (a) A Notice must:
  - (i) be in writing;
  - (ii) signed by or on behalf of the party giving it; and
    - (A) hand delivered to the address of the Authorised Representative; or

- (B) sent by prepaid post (airmail if posted to or from a place outside Australia) to the address of the Authorised Representative; or
- (C) sent by email to the email address of the Authorised Representative.
- (b) A Notice takes effect from the time it is received, unless a later time is specified in it. A Notice will be deemed to have been received by the Authorised Representative:
  - (i) in the case of hand delivery, upon delivery at the address of the Authorised Representative;
  - (ii) in the case of post, on the sixth (eleventh if posted to or from a place outside Australia) Business Day after posting; and
  - (iii) in the case of email, at the time of receipt as specified in s 13A of the *Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000*.
- (c) A party:
  - (i) may, from time to time, nominate a replacement Authorised Representative by Notice given in writing to the other party; and
  - (ii) must give Notice in writing to the other party within seven days of any change to the details of its Authorised Representative set out in Item 1 or Item 2 as applicable.

### 32.9. Guarantee and indemnity

If Item 17 specifies that a guarantee and indemnity is required, the Tenant must on or before the Commencement Date, procure execution by the guarantors (as directed by the Landlord) of a deed of guarantee and indemnity in the form of deed at Attachment 2 and deliver an original executed deed of guarantee and indemnity to the Minister. This Lease will not take effect until the deed of guarantee and indemnity has been properly executed by the guarantors and delivered to the Minister.

### 32.10. Set-Off

If the Tenant defaults in the payment of the Rent, or any other moneys payable under this Lease to the Landlord or any authority, the Landlord may set-off that amount against any money which may be payable by the Landlord to the Tenant on any account. Any set-off will not relieve the Tenant from its default.

### 32.11. Counterparts

This Lease may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of those counterparts taken together constitute one and the same instrument.

### 32.12. Further assurance

Each party must do, sign, execute and deliver and must procure that each of its Associates does, signs, executes and delivers, all deeds, documents, instruments

and acts reasonably required of it or them by Notice from another party to effectively carry out their obligations under this Lease.

# 32.13. Special Conditions

Any Special Condition set out in Schedule 2:

- (a) binds the parties; and
- (b) overrides any other provision of this Lease to the extent of any inconsistency.



Executed as a deed.

Appropriate signing clauses will be inserted



1. Landlord Moira Shire Council 2. **Tenant Tenant Details** 3. Act The relevant legislation is as marked "X" below:  $\boxtimes$ Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978; Land Act 1958; Forests Act 1958.  $\Box$ The Landlord has power to grant this Lease under **Applicable Leasing** the section of legislation marked "X" below: **Power** Section 16 of the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978: Section 17C of the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978: Section 17D of the Crown Land (Reserves) XAct 1978; Section 22 of the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978; Section 134 of the Land Act 1958: Section 134A of the Land Act 1958; Section 51 of the Forests Act 1958. П 4. Land To be inserted 5. **Premises** The Premises are located on Crown land contained in Crown Allotment 2004 on PP5607 Volume 11803 Folio 181 and part of Crown Allotment 5 Section 40 on PP5607 Volume 11803 Folio 188 Township of Numurkah Parish of Katunga shown on Plan of Premises as the 'Premises' and the improvements erected on that part of the Land, including without limitation the improvements existing at the Commencement Date or that are subsequently installed or constructed on that part of the Land under this Lease. 6. **Term** Up to 21 years 7. **Commencement Date** 1 April 2023 \$19,200 excluding GST, payable quarterly in 8. Rent advance, on or before the Commencement Date,

and then on each subsequent quarter.

9.	Review Date and Review Mechanism	These Review Mechanisms and Review Dates marked with "X" below apply to this Lease:		
			Review Mechanism to market review (Market Review	
			Date(s) for this Market Review ( <b>Market Review Date</b> ): Every six years from the Commencement Date.	
		$\boxtimes$	Review Mechanism to CPI review (CPI Review)	
			Date(s) for this CPI Review (CPI Review Date): Annually from the Commencement Date except when a Market Review applies.	
10.	Permitted Use	Management and operation of a Caravan Park		
11.	Maintenance and Repair	The Tenant must keep the Premises and the Tenant's Improvements in the same condition as they were at the Commencement Date, or, in relation to the Tenant's Improvements if such improvements were constructed during the Term, then, as such Tenant's Improvements were on the date they were completed.		
12.	Insurance	The in:	surance that applies is as marked "X" below:	
		$\boxtimes$	Public liability for the amount of \$20 million for a single event	
		$\boxtimes$	Industrial special risks	
			Motor Vehicle (if applicable)	

N/A

below

 $\boxtimes$ 

Security Deposit for the amount of \$5,000

meaning of the Retail Act.

Whether the Retail Act applies is as marked "X"

The Retail Act applies because the Premises are retail premises within the

**15 years and substantial works obligations:** the Lease Term is for 15
years or longer (excluding any Further
Terms) **and** this Lease imposes obligations

The Retail Act does not apply because:

**Further Term** 

**Retail Lease** 

Security

13.

14.

15.

on the Tenant or any other person as marked 'x':

to carry out substantial work on the Premises that involves the building, installation, repair or maintenance of the structure of, fixtures in, plant or equipment at, or utility appliances, fittings or fixtures, at the Premises; or

 to pay any substantial amount of the cost for any of the matters listed immediately above.

All fixed improvements

16.	Environmental Management	The Environmental Management requirements are as marked "X" below:		
			Environmental Report	
		$\boxtimes$	Environmental Management Plan	
			Not applicable	
17.	Guarantee and Indemnity		A guarantee and indemnity is required	
			Not applicable	
18.	Tenant's Improvements to which Clause 22.2(a) applies WHETHER IMPROVEMENTS REVERT OR NOT IS DISCRETIONARY		Not applicable (instead will rely on definition of Tenant's Improvements where not listed in Items 19 and 20)	
			The Tenant's Improvements include (but are not limited to):	
			All fixed improvements	
19.	Tenant's	$\boxtimes$	Not applicable	
	Improvements to which Clause 22.2(b)(i) applies		Tenant's Improvements to which Clause 22.2 (b)(i) applies:	
	IMPROVEMENTS NOT TO REVERT			
20.	Tenant's Improvements to which Clause 22.2(b)(ii) applies		Not applicable	
		$\boxtimes$	Tenant's Improvements to which Clause 22.2(b)(ii) applies:	

**IMPROVEMENTS TO** 

**REVERT** 

# **Table of contents**

1.	Furt	her Term	.48
2.	Ren	t review mechanisms	48
2	.1	Definitions	.48
2	.2	Date and mechanism	.48
3.	Mar	ket Rent review	48
3	.1	Review of Rent	48
3	.2	Method of Market Rent Review	50
4.	CPI	review of Rent	
4	.1	Definitions	.50
4	.2	Review of Rent	
5.	Fixe	d Percentage review	. 51
6.	Env	ironmental Management	
6	.1	Definitions	
6	.2	Environmental Report	
6	.3	Environmental Management Plan	.53
6	.4	Ongoing obligation	
6	.5	Exit obligation	.56
6	.6	Notices	
6	.7	No merger	
6	.8	Dispute Resolution	.56
7	Can	ital Works Plan	57

#### 1. Further Term

Unless a Further Term(s) is provided in Item 13, there is no option to renew this Lease.

#### 2. Rent review mechanisms

#### 2.1 Definitions

In these Special Conditions:

- (a) **CPI Review** means as set out in Item 9.
- (b) CPI Review Date means as set out in Item 9.
- (c) Market Review means as set out in Item 9.
- (d) Market Review Date means as set out in Item 9.
- (e) **Method of Market Rent Review** means the method of determination set out in Special Condition 3.2.
- (f) **Review Date** means the review date(s), if any, specified in Item 9.
- (g) **Review Mechanism** means the rent review mechanism or mechanisms (which, without limitation, may be a Market Review, CPI Review or Fixed Percentage Review), if any, set out in Item 9.

### 2.2 Date and mechanism

The Rent will be reviewed on the Review Date in accordance with the Review Mechanism.

#### 3. Market Rent review

### 3.1 Review of Rent

- (a) The Landlord may review the Rent to a Market Review on each Market Review Date in accordance with this Special Condition 3.1 and the Method of Market Rent Review.
- (b) If the Retail Act applies and the Retail Act provides a mechanism for market rent review, the review will take place in accordance with the provisions of the Retail Act and Special Conditions 3.1(b) to 3.1(m) (inclusive) will not apply.
- (c) If the Retail Act does not apply or does not provide a mechanism for market rent review, Special Conditions 3.1(c) to 3.1(n) (inclusive) and the Method of Determination shall apply.
- (d) No later than six (6) months before the Market Review Date the Tenant must provide the Landlord with its financial profit and/or loss statement for its operation on the Premises dating back no more than the past 3 years (including the current year). For the avoidance of doubt, the Landlord is

- under no obligation to factor in the Tenant's financial profit and/or loss statements in determining the new rental.
- (e) No later than six (6) months before the Market Review Date the Tenant must, provide the Landlord with information in writing of its provision of public benefits and commercial activities at the Premises.
- (f) Not earlier than three months before the Market Review Date and not later than 60 days after the Market Review Date the Landlord must give the Tenant Notice of the new rental it proposes be paid by the Tenant during that period or part thereof.
- (g) Time shall not be of the essence in respect of the Landlord's rent review Notice and any delay by the Landlord in giving Notice will not affect the Landlord's rights.
- (h) Within 28 days of being notified in writing of the proposed new rent the Tenant may give to the Landlord written Notice of objection to the proposed new rent (Notice of Objection Period) and within a further 30 days from the Notice of objection supply the Landlord with a rent valuation from a qualified valuer (Tenant Rent Valuation Period). If no Notice of objection is given in the Notice of Objection Period or if Notice is given and no rent valuation is supplied within the Tenant Rent Valuation Period the new rent will be the new rent as proposed in the Landlord's Notice.
- (i) Within 10 Business Days of the Tenant providing the Landlord with its rent valuation, the parties must enter into good faith discussions in an attempt to agree on a new rent.
- (j) If the parties have not resolved the dispute within 20 Business Days of the date the Tenant provided the Landlord with its rent valuation, either party may give Notice to the other of its election to refer the dispute to a conference of the Landlord's and Tenant's valuers (**Notice to Refer to Conference**).
- (k) If a conference of valuers has either not been convened or has been convened but failed to result in agreement on the rent within 20 Business Days of the date of issue of the Notice to Refer to Conference either party may give Notice to the other of its election to refer the dispute for determination by a valuer nominated by the President for the time being of the Australian Property Institute (the nominated valuer) who in making a determination, must accept representations from either Party received within twenty one days of the appointment.
- (I) The decision of the nominated valuer will be final and binding and the nominated valuer's Costs and fees must be paid by the parties equally.
- (m) Until the new rent is agreed or determined the Tenant must pay Rent at the rate applicable immediately prior to the date fixed for review until such time as the new rent is determined.
- (n) After the new rent is determined the Tenant must pay the difference if any between the amount of the new rent paid since the date fixed for review.

### 3.2 Method of Market Rent Review

In determining a new rent for the Premises the nominated valuer:

- (a) must as nearly as possible determine the open market rent value on the date when that rent is to apply for the Premises having regard to the following matters:
  - (i) act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and his decision will be final and binding on the parties;
  - (ii) there is a reasonable period within which to negotiate the new rent having regard to the nature of the property and the state of the market;
  - (iii) the Landlord and the Tenant are well acquainted with the Premises and aware of any factors which might affect its value;
  - (iv) the length of the Term and the period between rent reviews;
  - (v) the terms and obligations of the Lease;
  - (vi) the Permitted Use;
  - (vii) the rental of comparable premises; and
  - (viii) rents paid to the Tenant under any sub leases or licences,
  - (b) but must disregard:
    - (i) any Tenants Improvements;
    - (ii) the goodwill of the Tenant's business.

### 4. CPI review of Rent

#### 4.1 Definitions

In this Special Condition:

- (a) **Current CPI** means the CPI number for the quarter ending immediately before the CPI Review Date.
- (b) **CPI** means the Consumer Price Index All Groups Melbourne or if this index is not available or is discontinued or suspended, any other index that represents the rise in the cost of living in Melbourne, as the Landlord reasonably determines.
- (c) **Previous CPI** means the CPI number for the quarter ending immediately before the last date that the Rent was reviewed, adjusted or increased, or the Commencement Date (whichever is the later).

#### 4.2 Review of Rent

- (a) Subject to the Retail Act, if a CPI Review Date is specified in Item 10, the Rent on the CPI Review Date will be adjusted to an amount equal to the Rent payable immediately before the CPI Review Date multiplied by the Current CPI and added to the Rent payable immediately before the CPI Review Date.
- (b) On the next due date for the payment of the Rent, after the Tenant receives Notice of the adjusted Rent from the Landlord, the Landlord and the Tenant must make any necessary adjustment to apply on and from the CPI Review Date.

# 5. Fixed Percentage review

This Special Condition is not applicable.

If a Fixed Percentage Review Date is specified in Item 9, the Rent on the Fixed Percentage Review Date will be increased by three percent (3%) the Fixed Percentage Review except for a Market Review Date.

### 6. Environmental Management

### 6.1 Definitions

In this Special Condition 6:

- (a) **Environmental Consultant** means an independent person who is an expert, and has at least five years practical experience, in the assessment, management and remediation of Contamination in, on, under or migrating from land.
- (b) **Environmental Improvement Plan** means an environmental improvement plan outlining the nature, cause and extent of Contamination and the recommendations for managing and cleaning up or remediating Contamination on or emanating from the Land, prepared by an Environmental Consultant.
- (c) Environmental Liability means any Claim, action, obligation, Costs, fees and all other losses, damages, liabilities or harm, howsoever occasioned, brought against, incurred or suffered by the Landlord or the Tenant under applicable Environmental Protection Legislation, including without limitation any Cost to the Landlord or the Tenant in connection with the carrying out of any works (including without limitation investigation, clean up and remediation works) by the Landlord's or Tenant's employees and the administration of carrying out of the works in connection with or arising from ownership, occupation or use of the Premises or the Land by any party to this Lease.
- (d) **Environmental Management Plan** means a written report on the Environment of the Premises which includes but is not limited to:
  - (i) an overview of the Contamination management methods including but not limited to management zones and activities that the

Tenant must employ to prevent and manage Contamination and the Environment of the Premises;

- (ii) a schedule indicating timelines of activities to prevent and manage Contamination and changes to the Environment of the Premises;
- (iii) allocation of roles and responsibilities, including in relation to an environmental audit process to ensure that activities to prevent and manage Contamination and changes to the Environment of the Premises are satisfactorily carried out;
- (iv) a reporting regime for informing the Landlord of Contamination and changes to the Environment of the Premises; and
- (v) an overview of the management of and/or mitigation strategies for Contamination and the Environment of the Premises (including but not limited to details of native vegetation management, reinstatement, rehabilitation, waste management and Environmental incidents and emergency management at the Premises).
- (e) **Environmental Notice** means any written notice, order, statement or other direction that pertains to the Environment and is issued by a Government Agency to a party to this Lease.
- (f) **Environmental Report** means a report prepared by an Environmental Consultant that sets out the condition of the Premises with respect to Contamination and the Environment in, on, under and migrating from the Premises as at the Commencement Date.

# 6.2 Environmental Report

- (a) If an Environmental Report is specified in Item 16, prior to the Commencement Date, the Tenant must procure and deliver to the Landlord an Environmental Report at the Tenant's Cost. The Environmental Report must be undertaken in accordance with any applicable Environmental Protection Legislation.
- (b) The Tenant must submit the Environmental Report to the Landlord for approval. If the Landlord initially declines to grant approval, the Tenant must re-submit a revised Environmental Report for the Landlord's consideration, multiple times if necessary until approval occurs.
- (c) Subject to Special Condition 6.2(d), the parties accept that the Environmental Report accurately reflects the condition of the Premises with respect to Contamination and the Environment in, on, under and migrating from the Premises at the date of the Environmental Report and will provide a benchmark for the level of Contamination and condition of the Environment at the Premises on the Commencement Date.
- (d) The Landlord may reject the Environmental Report if the Landlord is not satisfied, acting reasonably, that the Environmental Report accurately states the current condition of the Premises.

# 6.3 Environmental Management Plan

- (a) If an Environmental Management Plan is specified in Item 16, then if requested by the landlord, prior to the Commencement Date, the Tenant must prepare the Environmental Management Plan.
- (b) If requested by the Landlord, the Tenant must submit the Environmental Management Plan to the Landlord for approval. If the Landlord initially declines to grant approval, the Tenant must re-submit a revised Environmental Management Plan for the Landlord's consideration, multiple times if necessary until approval occurs.
- (c) Upon the Landlord's request, the Tenant must immediately provide to the Landlord a copy of the Environmental Management Plan.
- (d) The Tenant's operation, use and development of the Premises must be conducted in accordance with the approved Environmental Management Plan during the Term.
- (e) The Landlord may require the Tenant to procure an Environmental Management Plan during the Term if the Landlord is satisfied, acting reasonably, that the Tenant's use or occupation of the Land has caused or is likely to cause Contamination or another adverse impact on the Environment.

# 6.4 Ongoing obligation

- (a) If any Contamination, not otherwise disclosed within the Environmental Report procured by the Tenant under Special Condition 6.2(a), is found in, on, under or migrating from the Premises during the Term or Further Term or at the expiry or sooner determination of this Lease, the Tenant must:
  - (i) give the Landlord written Notice of the existence of the Contamination within 5 Business Days of becoming aware of the Contamination;
  - (ii) at its Cost, promptly engage an Environmental Consultant and provide the Landlord and the Environmental Consultant with access to the Premises as reasonably required to arrange or prepare an Environmental Improvement Plan as soon as practicable following the Landlord's receipt of the Tenant's Notice under Special Condition 6.4(a)(i);
  - (iii) promptly comply with all recommendations contained in the Environmental Improvement Plan prepared pursuant to Special Condition 6.4(a)(ii) for any Contamination the Environmental Consultant determines reasonably has been caused or contributed to by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates or that may be exacerbated by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates proposed use or occupation of the Land; and
  - (iv) immediately suspend the Permitted Use on receipt of the Landlord's Notice under Special Condition 6.4(h).

- (b) The Tenant's obligations under this Special Condition 6.4 apply whether or not the Tenant has obtained an Environment Report under Special Condition 6.2(a).
- (c) In addition to, and without limiting, any other indemnity in this Lease, if a Government Agency issues an Environmental Notice in relation to any Contamination or Environmental Liability regarding the Land, Premises, surrounding land or area to the Land and/or the Permitted Use, the Tenant agrees that:
  - (i) If the environmental Notice was issued to the Tenant:
    - (A) The Tenant must inform the Landlord of that Environmental Notice within 5 Business Days of receipt and provide a copy of it to the Landlord;
    - (B) The Landlord has the right to comment on the Environmental Notice requirements and be involved in all discussions regarding the Environmental Notice, including participating in all meetings with any Government Agency and Environmental Consultant;
    - (C) the Tenant must keep the Landlord informed about all matters concerning the Environmental Notice, including any action, stop-works or works required by the Tenant, the Government Agency and Environmental Consultant to comply with and rectify the Environmental Notice and any steps taken or proposed to be taken by the Tenant to rectify the Environmental Notice;
  - (ii) the Tenant must participate in all meetings with any Government Agency and Environment Consultant regarding the Environmental Notice if requested by the Landlord; and
  - (iii) the Tenant:
    - (A) is solely liable for any Environmental Liability; and
    - (B) must at its Cost do all things required to comply with all of the requirements in the Environmental Notice, to the standard applicable under the Environmental Notice and this Lease in respect of any Contamination, that the Government Agency or the Environmental Consultant (who prepares the Environmental Improvement Plan) determines acting reasonably, that is the subject of the Environmental Notice has been caused or contributed to by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates occupation or use of the Premises after the Tenant's earliest occupation date.
- (d) Despite any other provisions of this Special Condition 6, the Landlord reserves the right to require the Tenant to reinstate the Premises, the Land and/or any adjoining or surrounding land or Environment (or any part thereof), impacted by any Contamination that has migrated from the Premises and which has resulted from the Tenant's use and occupation of

the Premises, to the condition detailed within the Environmental Report, where the Tenant is required by this Lease to obtain an Environmental Report. The Tenant must carry out all works to the standard in the Environmental Report.

- (e) If the Tenant undertakes an environmental assessment or remediation process at the Premises or on the Land, voluntarily or in accordance with the terms of this Lease, the Tenant agrees that:
  - (i) it must inform the Landlord of its intention to undertake the environmental assessment or remediation process prior to work commencing; and
  - (ii) the Landlord will have the right to comment on and be involved in the proposed process, including reasonably determining the extent of the proposed clean up by reference to the Environmental Report.
- (f) The Tenant agrees that any environmental reports it prepares or has the Environmental Consultant prepare for the Premises or Land, including clean up and remediation reports, audit reports or certificates and statements of audits, must:
  - (i) be provided to the Landlord 15 Business Days after the Tenant receives each relevant report including clean up and remediation reports, audit reports or certificates and statements of audit; and
  - (ii) allow the Landlord to rely upon those reports.
- (g) Provided that the Landlord gives the Tenant not less than 15 Business Days prior written Notice, the Tenant must provide the Landlord with reasonable access to the Tenant's relevant records and evidence of compliance with the provisions of this Special Condition 6 as and when the Landlord reasonably requests.
- (h) If the Environmental Consultant determines that the Tenant or a Tenant's Associates' occupation or use of the Premises has caused or contributed to, or may exacerbate, any Contamination, the Landlord may, in the Landlord's absolute discretion, by written Notice, require the Tenant to suspend the Permitted Use, in whole or in part, for the period set out in the Notice as determined by the Landlord (**Suspension Period**) in accordance with the Environmental Improvement Plan and otherwise in the Landlord's absolute discretion. For the avoidance of doubt, the Tenant:
  - (i) must continue to comply with this Lease during the Suspension Period; and
  - (ii) will have no right to abatement of Rent or Outgoings during the Suspension Period.
- (i) The Tenant's breach of Special Condition 6.4(a)(iii), Special Condition 6.4(a)(iv) or Special Condition 6.4(h) is an event of default for the purposes of Clause 21.2 of this Lease.

### 6.5 Exit obligation

- (a) If an Environmental Report is specified in Item 17, then when the Tenant vacates the Premises at expiry or the sooner determination of the Term or any Further Term, the Tenant must obtain a further Environmental Report ("Exit Environmental Report") at the Tenant's Cost from an Environmental Consultant that will be undertaken in accordance with the methodology adopted in the Environmental Report and otherwise in accordance with any applicable Environmental Protection Legislation.
- (b) If a variation is identified between the level of Contamination detailed within the Environmental Report and the Exit Environmental Report, the Landlord reserves the right to require the Tenant at its Cost to reinstate the whole or any part of the Premises, the Land and/or any adjoining or surrounding land or Environment, impacted by any Contamination that has migrated from the Premises to the condition detailed within the Environmental Report, save that the Tenant's obligation under this Special Condition 6.5(b) does not apply unless the Environmental Consultant acting reasonably concludes that the additional Contamination has been caused or contributed to by the Tenant or the Tenant's Associates use and occupation of the Premises.

#### 6.6 Notices

Without limiting any other obligations under this Lease, the Tenant must at all times comply with all Notices, orders and requirements reasonably required by the Landlord and of any Government Agency in relation to the storage or handling of substances that are potentially hazardous to the Environment.

# 6.7 No merger

The rights and obligations of the parties under this Special Condition 6 survive the expiry or sooner determination of this Lease.

# 6.8 Dispute Resolution

- (a) If any dispute arises under Special Conditions 6.2 to 6.5 between the Landlord and the Tenant, either party may give a Dispute Notice, referring the dispute for expert determination.
- (b) If a dispute is referred for expert determination, appointment of the Expert will be requested by the party giving the Dispute Notice.
- (c) The Expert will:
  - (i) fix and inform each party of a time for the parties to present their respective positions to the Expert. Unless otherwise agreed between the parties, the parties must present their respective positions to the Expert no later than 5 Business Days after the Expert's appointment;
  - (ii) make a determination or finding in respect of the dispute within 10 Business Days after the parties have presented their respective positions. Any determination of a dispute by the Expert will

include a determination as to the award of costs and will be final and binding on all parties; and

- (iii) act as an expert and not an arbitrator.
- (d) The parties will continue to perform their respective obligations under this Lease pending the resolution of a dispute under this Special Condition.
- (e) The Landlord and Tenant will not oppose any application for interlocutory relief pending resolution of a dispute by the Expert under this Special Condition.
- (f) In this Special Condition:
  - (i) **Dispute Notice** means a notice in writing given by either party to the other setting out details of a dispute that has arisen in relation to this Lease between the Landlord and Tenant; and
  - (ii) **Expert** means an expert appointed by the President of the Law Institute of Victoria from time to time.

# 7. Improvement Works Plan

The Tenants agreed Improvement Works Plan shall form part of the Lease